IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * *

In the Matter of

THE W.N. CONNELL and MARJORIE T. CONNELL LIVING TRUST, dated May 18, 1972.

Case No. 73837 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable GLORIA STURMAN, District Court Judge
District Court Case No. P-09-066425-T

.....

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ALEXANDER G. LEVEQUE (#11183) SOLOMON DWIGGINS & FREER, LTD. 9060 West Cheyenne Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89129 Telephone: (702) 853-5483

Facsimile: (702) 853-5485 Email: <u>aleveque@sdfnvlaw.com</u>

Attorney for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant has standing to appeal under NRAP 3(A)(a) as an appealable judgment was entered against her by the Eighth Judicial District Court (the "district court"). The district court's judgment is appealable under NRAP 3(A)(b)(1) as it was a judgment concerning compensatory and punitive damages in an action which was commenced in the district court. The judgment is also immediately appealable pursuant to NRS 155.190(1)(j), (l), and (n). Thus, the instant appeal is properly before this Court.

NRAP 4(a)(1) states that a notice of appeal must be filed no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment is served. Here, written notice of the entry of the judgment was filed on August 9, 2017. (1 AAPP 1.) The notice of appeal of the judgment was filed by Appellant on August 28, 2017. (1 AAPP 18.) Thus, the instant appeal is timely.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal does not fit neatly within NRAP 17 for the purposes of routing. This appeal is not within one of the categories of cases that "shall" be decided by the Supreme Court. NRAP 17(a). Nevertheless, this appeal is not "presumptively assigned" to the Court of Appeals because it is an appeal from an evidentiary hearing involving a trust wherein, upon information and belief, has a corpus valued higher than \$5,430,000, and an appeal from a judgment in excess of \$250,000. See NRAP 17(b)(15) and (5), respectively.

Appellant submits that the Supreme Court is the appropriate court to hear this appeal considering that it has already heard two other appeals concerning this district court case (Nos. 66231 and 71577) and the underlying trust at issue. Indeed, the Supreme Court has already issued a published decision concerning the interpretation of the trust (133 Nev. Adv. Op. 19) and has already reviewed certain conduct of the Appellant as it relates to the trust.

Accordingly, Appellant submits that it is likely most efficient for the Supreme Court to retain assignment of the present appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether Appellant was denied her right under NRS 42.005(3) to a separate and subsequent proceeding to determine the amount of punitive damages after the district court judge, as the trier of fact, made a finding that punitive damages would be assessed.
- 2. Whether the punitive damages award was supported by substantial evidence.
- 3. Whether the punitive damages award violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.
- 4. Whether the district court abused its discretion when it denied Appellant's motion to continue the evidentiary hearing.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Judgments Appealed

This is an appeal from a judgment entered by the Eighth Judicial District Court (the "district court") in a statutory trust proceeding concerning The W.N. Connell and Majorie T. Connell Living Trust, dated May 18, 2972 (the "Trust") against Eleanor Connell Hartman Ahern ("Appellant") for compensatory damages in the net amount of \$1,742,053 (the "Compensatory Judgment") and punitive damages in the amount of \$3,600,000 (the "Punitive Judgment"). (1 AAPP 1-17.)

B. The Declaratory Relief Proceeding

The genesis of the adversarial trust proceeding which ultimately led to the judgment against Appellant was a petition filed in 2013 by Appellant's daughters, Jacqueline Montoya and Kathryn Bouvier (collectively, the "Daughters"), which sought declaratory relief concerning the Daughters' and Appellant's respective beneficial rights to income from the Trust (the "Declaratory Relief Petition"). (7-8 AAPP 800-936.) The Daughters filed the Declaratory Relief Petition after Appellant stopped making distributions of Trust income to the Daughters in June of 2013.

The district court decided the Declaratory Relief Petition on January 30,

2

¹ The district court awarded \$2,581,994.92 in compensatory damages but acknowledged a partial satisfaction of the judgment in the amount of \$809,841.92. (1 AAPP 15.)

2015, by way of summary judgment, and concluded that Appellant is entitled to 35% of the Trust's income, and the Daughters, through a separate trust known as the MTC Trust, are entitled to the remaining 65% of the Trust's income (the "Distribution Order").² (1 AAPP 22-38.)

C. The Motion for Assessment of Damages Against Eleanor Ahern; Enforcement of No-Contest Clause; and Surcharge of Eleanor's Trust Income (the "Surcharge Petition")

Prior to its decision and entry of the Distribution Order, the district court entered an interim order on January 6, 2014, which directed Appellant, as Trustee of the Trust, to hold 65% of the Trust's income pending adjudication of the Daughters' and Appellant's respective beneficiary interests in the Trust. (8 AAPP 937-941.)

On March 20, 2015, the district court convened a hearing to determine whether Appellant breached fiduciary duties owed to the Daughters when she unilaterally, and without court instruction, ceased making distributions of Trust income to the Daughters in June of 2013. The district court determined that Appellant did, in fact, breach her fiduciary duties by cutting off distributions. (1 AAPP 41-42.) As a result, the district court removed Appellant as Trustee of the Trust and replaced her with Fredrick Waid, a court-appointed temporary trustee (the

3

² The Distribution Order was affirmed by this Court On May 4, 2017, in consolidated Case Nos. 62231, 67782, and 68046. See *In the Matter of the W.N. Connell and Marjorie T. Connell Living Trust*, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 19.

"Court-Appointed Trustee"). (1 AAPP 44-45.)

On June 3, 2015, the Daughters filed their Motion for Assessment of Damages Against Eleanor Ahern; Enforcement of No-Contest Clause; and Surcharge of Eleanor's Trust Income (the "Surcharge Petition"). (6-7 AAPP 748-771; 1 AAPP 46;94.) The principle relief sought by the Daughters in their Surcharge Petition was (1) damages, which at that time were claimed to be \$2,650,000 for Appellant's alleged conversion of the Daughter's 65% share of the Trust income; (2) a declaration that Eleanor triggered the "no-contest" clause of the Trust thereby causing her interest to be reduced to \$1.00; (3) a surcharge of Appellant's Trust interest in the event a total forfeiture was not declared; and (4) attorneys' fees. (7 AAPP 768.) Appellant, who was then represented by counsel, filed an opposition to the Surcharge Petition on June 29, 2015. (7 AAPP 772-784.)

On August 5, 2015, the district court heard the Surcharge Petition and it was determined that an evidentiary hearing was necessary to adjudicate Daughters' claims. (1 AAPP 95-96.)

D. The Evidentiary Hearing

The evidentiary hearing on the Daughters' Surcharge Petition was effectively bifurcated into two proceedings. The first occurred on February 22, and March 3, 2016 (the "First Phase"). (1-4 AAPP 97-408.) The second occurred on February 9, 2017 and February 10, 2017 (the "Second Phase"). (4-7 AAPP 464-729.) Appellant

was represented by Kirk Lenhard, Esq. during the First Phase, but was not represented by counsel during the Second Phase. (1 AAPP 97; 4 AAPP 464.) Given that the time between the First Phase and the Second Phase was nearly as year, significant activity occurred during that time (the "Interim Phase") which is relevant to the instant appeal.

1. First Phase of the Evidentiary Hearing

The First Phase primarily dealt with (1) whether Appellant had triggered the "no-contest" provisions of the Trust;³ (2) whether Appellant had complied with the district court's order to protect the 65% share of the Trust income that was supposed to be segregated for the benefit of the Daughters; and (3) whether Appellant's failure to segregate warranted surcharge damages against Appellant's 35% share of the Trust income. (4 AAPP 409-412.) Although it determined that damages and surcharge were warranted, the district court did not determine the amount of damages, nor did it determine whether punitive damages ought to be assessed. (4 AAPP 411-412.) The district court concluded that a future hearing with additional

³ With regard to the "no-contest" claim, the district court determined that Appellant did not trigger the no-contest provisions. (4 AAPP 412.) The Daughters appealed that decision to this Court on October 19, 2016, which has been fully briefed, argued, and has been submitted for decision. See Case No. 71577.

briefing and evidence would be required for such determinations.⁴ *Id.* Notably, the district court recognized that the Daughters' claim for punitive damages would require a separate hearing. (4 AAPP 391-395.)

2. Second Phase of the Evidentiary Hearing

The Second Phase of the evidentiary hearing, which occurred on February 9 and 10, 2017, handled the Daughters' claims for (1) compensatory damages caused by the previously adjudicated breach of fiduciary duty; (2) a finding that Appellant ought to be assessed punitive damages under NRS 42.005; and (3) the amount of punitive damages to be assessed. Although the hearing was technically two days, evidence was presented only on the first day. (4 AAPP 464-465; 6 AAPP 668-669.) The second day was the Daughters' closing argument. (6 AAPP 679-724.)

3. The Interim Phase – Between the First and Second Phases

During the Interim Phase (March 3, 2016 – February 9, 2017), Mr. Lenhard and his firm withdrew as counsel for Appellant on November 23, 2016. (4 AAPP 450-451.) Shortly before the hearing on Mr. Lenhard's motion, Appellant faxed an email to the district court, which the district court provided to all parties present, wherein Appellant requested that the district court instruct the Court-Appointed Trustee to pay for new counsel. (4 AAPP 425-426.) Appellant's request was filed

6

⁴ Notably, the only witnesses called and examined by the Daughters in their case in chief was the Court-Appointed Trustee, who testified that he was not able at that time to opine on the net damages sustained by the Daughters. (2 AAPP 217, 237.)

that morning as a response to Mr. Lenhard's motion to withdraw. *Id.* The district court denied the request and permitted Mr. Lenhard's withdrawal. (4 AAPP 445-446.) The district court admitted however, that Appellant needed counsel. *Id.*

4. The Request for Attorneys' Fees and the Motion for Continuance

On February 8, 2017 – one day before the Second Phase of the evidentiary hearing was scheduled to commence – the district granted Appellant's ex parte request for the release of funds from the Trust to pay for an attorney to represent her in the Second Phase of the evidentiary hearing. (4 AAPP 463.)

On the morning of February 9, 2018, the Second Phase commenced and Appellant hadn't been able to retain counsel (4 AAPP 467-469.) Appellant made an oral motion to continue the hearing because she was unrepresented by counsel. (4 AAPP 476.) The motion was denied without explanation by the district court.

5. The District Court's Assessment of Damages

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the district court assessed against Appellant compensatory damages in total amount of \$2,581,994 and punitive damages in the amount of \$3.6 million. (5 AAPP 724-727.) The district court arrived at \$3.6 million by "trebling" the amount of an approximate \$1.2 million cashier's check that Appellant caused to be issued from the Trust account, made payable to the Trust, which is discussed in greater detail *infra* (the "February 2015 Cashier's Check"). (5 AAPP 724-727.) This appeal follows.

III.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Events Leading Up To Mr. Lenhard's Withdrawal and Appellant's Motion to Continue the Evidentiary Hearing

On October 5, 2016, the district court ordered Appellant to appear for a deposition to be taken by counsel for the Court-Appointed Trustee. (4 AAPP 414-421.) On November 7, 2016, the Court-Appointed Trustee issued a notice to take Appellant's deposition on November 29, 2016, at the law offices of Hutchison & Steffen, LLC, in Las Vegas. (4 422-424.) On November 9, 2016, during a status check, Mr. Lenhard represented to the district court that he was going to seek withdrawal from the case and did not want to be responsible for Appellant's November 29, 2016, deposition. (8 AAPP 942-943.) During the same status check, the district court set the dates for the Second Phase of the evidentiary hearing. *Id.*

On November 21, 2016, Mr. Lenhard filed a motion to withdraw as counsel, which the court heard on November 23, 2016, on shortened time. (4 AAPP 427-451.) During the hearing, Lawrence Semenza, Esq. presented to potentially represent Appellant but had concerns about Appellant's ability to pay and her upcoming deposition. (4 AAPP 430-435.) The district court refused to instruct the trustee to release funds and instead suggested that Mr. Semenza first agree to represent her, enter an appearance, and then file a request for a fee budget. (4 AAPP 445-446.) The district court admitted however, that Appellant needed counsel. *Id*.

On February 8, 2017 – one day before the Second Phase of the evidentiary hearing was scheduled to commence – the district court reversed course, granted Appellant's request for fees, and directed the Court-Appointed Trustee to release funds from Appellant's share of the Trust directly to Mr. Semenza for fees to represent Appellant during the Second Phase. (4 AAPP 463.)

On the morning of February 9, 2018, Mr. Semenza presented in district court based on the court's February 8, 2017, minute order but stated that he could not represent Appellant in the evidentiary hearing because doing so without any advance notice or preparation would be, in his words, malpractice. (4 AAPP 467-469.) In response, Appellant made an oral motion to continue the hearing. (4 AAPP 476.) The motion was denied without explanation by the district court. *Id*.

B. Appellant's Problematic Appearance at the Second Phase of the Evidentiary Hearing by Videoconference

During the Second Phase, Appellant appeared via video conference upon her request. (4 AAPP 494.) However, Appellant was not provided a copy of the Daughters' proposed exhibits and had repeated difficulty hearing and understanding both the Daughters' counsel and the Daughter's sole witness – the Court-Appointed Trustee. (4-5 AAPP 482, 488, 490, 494-495, 539, 549, 553, 560-561, 563, 564-566, 573, 594) Although in the beginning of hearing Appellant stated that she would not be speaking because she wasn't represented by counsel, she did speak on several occasions to inform the district court that she could not hear or to request breaks. (4

AAPP 476.) She did not, however, cross-examine the Court-Appointed Trustee nor was she expressly given the opportunity by the district court to cross-examine him. (5 AAPP 602-604.) Similarly, Appellant did not present her own case after the Daughters rested nor was she expressly given the opportunity to do so by the district court. *Id*.

C. The Evidence Offered in Support of the Daughters' Claims for Compensatory and Punitive Damages

The only witness called during the Second Phase of the evidentiary hearing by the Daughters was the Court-Appointed Trustee. (4 AAPP 465.) Appellant was not called as a witness. *Id.* During his examination, the Court-Appointed Trustee heavily relied on his Accounting and Report of Trust Activity From 2013 to 2015, filed on February 1, 2017 (the "Trustee's Report"). (4-5 AAPP 452-462, 502, 532-602.)

With regard to compensatory damages, the Court-Appointed Trustee testified that the Daughters should have received a total of \$3,956,500 in Trust income payments for the years 2013-2015, but that only \$2,214,497 had been paid after Appellant's removal as trustee thus resulting in a deficiency of \$1,742,053. (5 AAPP 540.)

Counsel for the Daughters also examined the Court-Appointed Trustee with regard to monies he discovered and took possession of during his tenure. Notably, the Court-Appointed Trustee testified that he "recovered" a cashier's check in the

amount of \$1,287,580.85, which was made payable to the Trust. (5 AAPP 531, 585.) To the best of Appellant's knowledge, however, the check itself was neither offered nor admitted into evidence. This testimony is relevant because it later formed the basis for the district court's assessment of punitive damages. (6 AAPP 725-727.)

The Court-Appointed Trustee's examination concluded on February 9, 2017. (5 AAPP 602) On February 10, 2017, counsel for the Daughters made his closing argument. (5 AAPP 617.) During his closing argument, counsel for the Daughters asked for compensatory damages in the approximate amount of \$2.5 million, not \$1,742,053, because that number represented the amount that was owing to the Trust before the Court-Appointed Trustee recovered some of the funds. (6 AAPP 636.) Following closing argument, the district court assessed compensatory damages in total amount of \$2,581,994 and punitive damages in the amount of \$3.6 million. (5 AAPP 724-727.) The district court arrived at \$3.6 million by "trebling" the amount of the approximate \$1.2 million cashier's check discussed supra. (5 AAPP 724-727.)

D. The District Court's Concerns about Appellant's Ability to Represent Herself

On July 20, 2017, just five months after the evidentiary hearing concluded,

⁵ The Compensatory Judgment, however, reflects the net compensatory damages of \$1,742,053, after a recognized partial satisfaction. (1 AAPP 15.)

11

the Court-Appointed Trustee moved for the appointment of a guardian ad litem over the Appellant in the ongoing trust proceeding. (6 APP 730.) The Court-Appointed Trustee's motion was granted on August 2, 2017. *Id*.

IV.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal boils down to two primary questions: (1) are there problems with the Punitive Judgment such that it cannot be upheld by this Court; and (2) did the district court's denial of Appellant's oral motion to continue the Second Phase of the evidentiary hearing severely and unnecessarily prejudice the Appellant such that the matter should be remanded for a rehearing of the Second Phase.

A. THE PUNITIVE JUDGMENT IS THE PRODUCT OF IMPROPER PROCEDURE, IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, AND IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY ARBITRARY AND EXCESSIVE.

Appellant submits that the Punitive Judgment cannot be upheld for three reasons.

First, an assessment of punitive damages under Nevada law requires a proceeding subsequent and separate from the underlying proceeding where a final judgment was entered for compensatory damages. NRS 42.005(3). This did not occur. Instead, the district court only held one hearing for all of the Daughters' claims, including their punitive damage claim. This Court has previously held that NRS 42.005(3) is plain on its face and has been strictly construed. The district

court's error is, therefore, reversible.

Second, punitive damages would only be available if the Daughters could prove with clear and convincing evidence that, in the course of inflicting the harm which caused their injury, Appellant acted with fraud, oppression and/or malice. NRS 42.005(1). This also did not occur. On review, a punitive damages award will be upheld if it is supported by substantial evidence in the record. In this case, the Daughter's injury was the amount of money that they should have received from the Trust but didn't due to Appellant's acts/omission. The Compensatory Judgment equates to that amount of money. The district court's finding of fraud, oppression and malice which justified the Punitive Judgment, however, had to do with a cashier's check that (1) was recovered by the Court-Appointed Trustee; and (2) was not part of the Compensatory Judgment analysis and calculation. In other words, there was no nexus between the fraud/oppression/malice and the Daughters' injury.

Third, under federal Constitutional law, punitive damages must bear a reasonable relationship to compensatory damages and must not be excessive or arbitrary. In this case, there is no relationship between the Compensatory Judgment and the Punitive Judgment. Again, the Compensatory Judgment – \$1,742,053 – is the amount of money that the Daughters should have received from the Trust but did not due to the conduct of the Appellant. The Punitive Judgment – \$3.6 million – however was calculated by trebling the amount of an approximate \$1.2 million

cashier's check that Appellant caused to be issued and made payable to the Trust which was ultimately delivered to the Court-Appointed Trustee by her attorneys. The cashier's check is irrelevant to the Compensatory Judgment. Accordingly, the Punitive Judgment is completely arbitrary and cannot withstand due process scrutiny.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO CONTINUE BECAUSE IT EFFECTIVELY DIVESTED APPELLANT OF HER ABILITY TO BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL.

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