Case No. 73837

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

IN THE MATTER OF THE W.N. CONNELL AND MARJORIE T. CONNELL LIVING TRUST, dated May 18, 1972

Electronically Filed Sep 05 2018 10:15 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable GLORIA J. STURMAN
District Court Case No. P-09-066425-T

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JOSEPH J. POWELL
State Bar No. 8875
DANIEL P. KIEFER
State Bar No. 12419
MATTHEW W. PARK
State Bar No. 12062
RUSHFORTH LEE & KIEFER LLP
1707 Village Center Circle, Suite 150
Las Vegas, NV 89134
Telephone (702) 255-4552
probate@rlklegal.com
Attorneys for Respondents

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

Specifically, in 2016, Judge Sturman found clear and convincing evidence that Aherns, oppression, fraud and malice warranted punitive damages because:

[T]his seems to me to be a very willful and malicious --- if we read our jury instruction on liability for punitive damages, you know, the conduct probably satisfies that. I don't have any real concern that we can satisfy the standard for punitive damages in this case.

(4 AAPP 389) (emphasis added.) The district court later confirmed that "I think this is punitive damage time. I do. No trustee should be allowed to behave this way without consequences." (4 AAPP 390) (emphasis added.) Indeed, Judge Sturman emphasized "It's a very serious thing and I believe should be – should subject the trustee to some kind of punishment and I think that's probably punitive damages." (4 AAPP 390-391) (emphasis added.) The district court confirmed "just looking at the standard set forth in our jury instructions for jurors when they're to look at punitive damages, we've met it and I don't have any doubt we have." (4 AAPP 391) (emphasis added.) Put simply, Judge Sturman found that punitive damages should be assessed.

Having already determined that Ahern's conduct rose to the level of punitive damages, Judge Sturman confirmed that a subsequent hearing was required to determine the amount of those punitive damages. "I think you need to specifically look at that issue and brief that issue because I think it's a big deal, to impose punitive damages on an individual is a very huge undertaking and it requires its own separate hearing..." (4 AAPP 391.)

These findings provide necessary context to the colloquy between Judge Sturman and Mr. Lenhard cited by Ahern. *See id.* at Op. Br. p. 17. Judge Sturman explained to Mr. Lenhard that she was not awarding any punitive damage *amount*

at that February 2016 evidentiary hearing. (4 AAPP 394-395). She first clarified that that the separate hearing to calculate those damages was necessary: "I said [setting a punitive damages amount] requires a separate hearing." But, she made clear that punitive damages were warranted: "I think the conduct rises to punitive damages." (Id.) (emphasis added). The district court, however, was not "awarding [a specific amount] now...we have to have a hearing on what the damages are." (4 AAPP 396.) In other words, Judge Sturman had *already* found that compensatory and punitive damages were appropriate, but she needed a *subsequent* hearing to calculate the appropriate damages amounts.

Accordingly, Ahern's citation to *Wyeth v. Rowatt*, 126 Nev. 446, 476, 244 P.3d 765, 785 (2010) for the proposition that liability and punitive proceedings should be bifurcated is unhelpful. These proceedings *were* bifurcated. Moreover, this case is unlike *Wyeth* because this was not a jury trial. Likewise, *D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Betsinger*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 84, 335 P.3d 1230, 1232 (2014) concerned a reversal and remand under NRS 42.005(3) because different juries determined the defendants' liability and punitive phases. But, *Betsinger* is inapplicable because Ahern benefitted from the equivalent of a bench trial – the same finder of fact presided over both the liability and punitive phases.

The district court properly assessed Ahern's punitive damages under Nevada law by *first* finding that punitive damages were warranted, and then determined she

needed to conduct a *second* hearing (one year later) to determine the amount of such damages. *See* NRS 42.005(3).

Even assuming *arguendo*, that the "subsequent proceeding" in 2017 was insufficient time under the statute, this oversight would constitute harmless error under NRCP 61, and did not affect the substantial rights of Ahern. Rather, it is the Court's "duty to search the record as a whole, and exercise a judicial discretion in deciding whether the error is harmless or reversible in nature... [w]e do not presume prejudice from the occurrence of error in a civil case. *Boyd v. Pernicano*, 79 Nev. 356, 359, 385 P.2d 342, 343 (1963). Here, any alleged technical violation of NRS 42.005(3) is harmless because Ahern had sufficient time to obtain counsel and present a defense to the punitive damages claim.

3. The Court's Punitive Damages Award Was Constitutional and Not Excessive.

The district court's award of punitive damages was not excessive under Nevada law. Indeed, "punitive damages are designed to punish and deter a defendant's culpable conduct and act as a means for the community to express outrage and distaste for such conduct." *Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. v. Thitchener*, 124 Nev. 725, 739, 192 P.3d 243, 252 (2008).

In reviewing punitive damages for excessiveness, the Court looks to "ensure that the measure of punishment is both reasonable and proportionate to the amount of harm to the plaintiff and to the general damages recovered."

Bongiovi, 122 Nev. at 582–83 (quoting State Farm Mut. Automobile Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 426, 123 S.Ct. 1513, 155 L.Ed.2d 585 (2003)).

Nevada uses the three-factor federal standard in determining whether an award of punitive damages is excessive. *Bongiovi v. Sullivan*, 122 Nev. 556, 583. The three factors for determining whether punitive damages are excessive are: "(1) 'the degree of reprehensibility of the defendant's conduct,' (2) the ratio of the punitive damage award to the 'actual harm inflicted on the plaintiff,' and (3) how the punitive damages award compares to other civil or criminal penalties 'that could be imposed for comparable misconduct.'" *Bongiovi*, 122 Nev. at 582 (quoting *BMW of North America, Inc. v. Gore*, 517 U.S. 559, 574–75, 116 S.Ct. 1589, 134 L.Ed.2d 809 (1996)).

Applying these three factors to this case confirms that the district court's imposition of punitive damages was not excessive.

a. The Court's Award Was Based on the High Degree of "Reprehensibility" of Ahearn's Conduct.

Turning to the first guidepost, Ahearn's underlying conduct was highly reprehensible, as she recklessly stole money from the Beneficiaries. (1 AAPP 9-13.) At least two of her cashier's check withdrawals came within days after her removal as Trustee, when she was not acting as a trustee but as a common thief. *See e.g., BMW,* 517 U.S. at 576–77 (knowingly disobeying the law supports the use of "strong medicine ... to cure the defendant's disrespect for the law").

For her part, Ahern argues that because the Court-Appointed Trustee recovered some of the funds, **after she stole them**, then there was nothing egregious about her conduct. *See* Op. Br. at p. 22. She also argues that because the \$1,278,580.85 cashier's check represented a single transaction, the harm was not enough to merit punitive damages. *Id.* This is the functional equivalent of a bank robber arguing the robbery is of little concern because auditors eventually found some of the money in the getaway car. A fraudster's reprehensible conduct is not excused because some funds were later recovered *after* they were caught.

Mr. Waid testified that Ahern's taking of this check was an absolute breach of fiduciary duty. (5 AAPP 531-532). And Judge Sturman clarified that even though those funds were recovered, it "does not excuse the fact that [theft of the \$1,278,580.85 cashier's check] never should have been done in the first place." (6 AAPP 664.) Indeed, "that [theft of the cashier's check] appears, to me, to have been undertaken with conscious disregard of the rights of the [Beneficiaries] appears to have been fraudulent." (*Id.*)

Ahern transferred large sums of money via cashier's checks to obscure the source of Trust funds and to steal them in a fraudulent manner. The district court accurately determined that this misconduct was reprehensible behavior.

b. The Ratio of Punitive Damages to Actual Damages is Less Than the Three-to-One Standard.

The district court imposed an award of punitive damages that is much less than three times the approximately \$1.7 Million-dollar net judgment amount, not to mention the approximately \$2.5 Million-dollar full judgment amount. Here, the punitive damages award was \$3.6 Million-dollars, a multiple of the approximately \$1.2 Million-dollar cashier's check stolen by Ahern.

Where an award of punitive damages is less than three times the compensatory damages award, this Court has held it is "well within the accepted ratios" mandated by NRS 42.005(1)(a). *Wyeth*, 126 Nev. at, 244 P.3d at 785. The United States Supreme Court even noted in *BMW* that a ratio of more than 4:1 may be "close to the line," but "did not 'cross the line into the area of constitutional impropriety." *BMW*, 517 U.S. at 581 (quoting *Pacific Mutual Life Ins. Co. v. Haslip*, 499 U.S. 1, 23–24, 111 S.Ct. 1032, 113 L.Ed.2d 1 (1991)). Here, the less than 3:1 ratio of punitive damages to compensatory damages is appropriate.

c. The Punitive Damages Award Is Well Within the Range of Damages That Could Be Imposed.

The punitive damages award in this case is well within the range of damages that could be imposed for comparable misconduct because, pursuant to NRS 42.005(1), the district court was permitted to award three times the compensatory damage award of \$2,581,994.92. This calculus would allow an award of

\$7,745,984.76. Even if the Court were to use the Opening Brief's "net judgment" amount of \$1,742,053,⁴ three times that discounted amount is still \$5,226,159.

Here, the district court imposed a relatively restrained punitive damages award of \$3,600,000 based on a figure that is much less than three times the full compensatory damage amount of \$2,581,994.92. The award is both reasonable and proportionate to the amount of harm caused to the beneficiaries, and to the compensatory damages award.

Ahern's argument that her theft of Trust funds, and attendant breach of fiduciary duties, caused no "actual harm" to the Beneficiaries is implausible. *See* Op Br. at 23-24. Nevada's legislature has intentionally created a trust-friendly statutory scheme to foster investment. Ahern's argument ignores the very core of fiduciary jurisprudence because it fails to recognize that breach of the fiduciary duty *itself* is the "actual harm," not just the amount of money ultimately recovered. *See e.g.*, James C. Dawson, Advisers Act Release No. 3057, 2010 WL 2886183, at

_

⁴ The district court noted the Court-Appointed Trustee was able to claw back \$809,841.92 of the compensatory award amount, partially reducing the judgment amount going forward.

⁵ Kevin R. McKinnis, *The Good, the Bad, and A New Kind of Prenup: An Analysis of the Ohio Legacy Trust Act and What Asset Protection Trusts Will Mean for Ohio*, 61 Clev. St. L. Rev. 1105, 1124 (2013) ("...New York's trust business was decreasing significantly as individuals left for states that had trust friendly laws, such as Delaware, Alaska, and Nevada.")

*3 (SEC, July 23, 2010) (within the fiduciary context, a finding that "conduct was egregious is based on the nature of the violation itself, not solely on any calculation of financial harm to his clients.") Violating a fiduciary's duty of care and a duty of loyalty by stealing Trust funds cannot be labeled as a "non-existent" harm, regardless of the final ledger.

Finally, as explained above at pages 28-29, the punitive damages award was expressly based on Ahern's breach of fiduciary duties, and outright theft, to the Beneficiaries – not the violation of some court order or a stealth contempt sanction. *See* Op. Br. at p. 24.

To accept Ahern's argument is to ignore the clear Order in this case that contradicts that argument. (1 AAPP 9-13.) One would also have to ignore the district court's clear reasoning on why the cashier's check is an appropriate reference point for Ahern's multiple breaches of fiduciary duty. *See* pages 28-29 *supra*. In short, there is no fair reading of the record that transforms the district court's well-supported punitive damages award into a stealth contempt citation.

4. Ahern Should Be Estopped from Challenging Her Punitive Damages Award Based on Her Representations in the Parallel Appeal.

⁶ Indeed, Judge Sturman already referred a contempt action against Ahern to Judge Elizabeth Gonzales, which was denied. Thus, Ahern's violation of court orders was no longer a viable basis for punishment.

In the parallel "No-Contest" appeal, (Case No. 71577), Ahern's counsel, Mr. Lenhard, represented to this Court that she had accepted, and was not challenging her punitive damages award, as a reason for the court to impose leniency in that case. Generally speaking, "courts do not relish the prospect that an adept litigant may succeed in proving a proposition in one action, and then succeed in proving the opposite in a second." *See e.g.*, 18B Fed. Prac. & Proc. Juris. § 4477 (2d ed.).

As context, Mr. Lenhard told this Court, "I'm asking you to affirm...an order where it was determined that [Ahern] had improperly administered the trust. She had violated her duties as trustee. [Ahern] had failed to segregate 65 percent of the trust per a court order. [Ahern] had misapplied trust income. I'm asking that order be affirmed because we did not realistically challenge those findings at the trial." (1 RA 44.)

Specifically arguing for leniency, Mr. Lenhard stated she had to pay compensatory damages, punitive damages, and attorney's fees, and so the other beneficiaries have been made whole. (1 RA 41.) Indeed, Ahern's counsel doubled down by stating she had already paid her dues via compensatory and punitive damages: "she paid a horrible price as a result of it. She paid millions of dollars back in compensatory and punitive damages...she has paid the price.... she has paid the price." (1 RA 50.)

In one appeal, Ahern has argued that she accepts and has paid punitive damages, and so no further punishment is justified. But in this appeal, Ahern is arguing the punitive damages are wholly unjustified. Justice and equity demand that Ahern cannot have it both ways. These inconsistent positions, if both accepted, lead to inequitable results for the Beneficiaries.

B. <u>Denying Ahern's Last-Minute Motion to Continue the Evidentiary</u> Hearing Was Not an Abuse of Discretion.

One cannot sit on one's hands and then claim she was prejudiced by doing so. *In re Estate of Eccleston*, 279 P.3d 739 (Kan. Ct. App. 2012) ("One cannot sit on one's hands and then claim excusable neglect.") Ahern's alleged prejudice, due to the denial of her last-minute request for a continuance, is a consequence of her own making. Ahern had months to secure representation at the second evidentiary hearing, but she failed to do so.

Ahern's failure to follow the necessary steps to obtain counsel, or funding for counsel, after being advised of those steps, does not trump the district court's discretion to manage its docket. *See* 88 C.J.S. Trial § 79 ("The trial court has wide discretion to control, regulate, and manage its cases and calendar or docket for orderly, efficient, and expedient disposition of business"). Permitting Ahern's last-minute continuance would have undermined the district court's docket management, disrupted the litigation, and rewarded Ahern's indolent and cavalier

behavior. Accordingly, the district court used appropriate discretion in denying Ahern's oral motion for continuance.

1. Ahern Lacks Standing to Challenge the District Court's Denial of Her Oral Motion for Continuance

First, as a procedural matter, Ahern's failure to file an affidavit setting forth her grounds for continuance is sufficient to deny her appeal on this issue. *See Piazza v. Reid*, 83 Nev. 123, 123, 424 P.2d 413, 413 (1967). In that case, the appellant made an oral motion for continuance, based upon the illness of a material witness, which was denied by the court. *Id.* This Court held that the appellants "failed to file an affidavit setting forth their grounds for continuance." *Id.*, *citing* NRCP 21; NRS 16.010.

Although the appellants argued that it was undisputed that the witness was material to their case, this Court held that it "was incumbent upon them to file an affidavit in order to establish standing to attack the district court's discretion." *Id.*Like Ahern in this case, "since no affidavit was filed, we cannot say that the lower court abused its discretion." *Id.* Accordingly, Ahern lacks standing to challenge the district court's denial of her oral motion for continuance, and this portion of the appeal must be dismissed.

2. Nevada Law Allows District Courts Discretion to Control Their Dockets and to Grant or Deny Continuances

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